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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE

AVENUE MEDIA, N.V.,
Plaintiff, C V4 2 3 7 1 Q/
v Civil Action No.:

e COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
DIRECTREVENUL, LLC; : ‘ o E
DIRECTREVENUE HOLDINGS, LLC; AND DECLARATORY RELIEF AND
BETTERINTERNET, LLC., !

Defendants.
L INTRODUCTTON
1. This is an aclion for: 1) injunctive relief to restrain Defendants,

DirectRevenue, LI.C, DirectRevenue Holdings, L1.C, and BetterInternet, LLC,
(collectively, “DhirectRevenue™) from deleting Avenue Media’s internet browser
(“Internet Optimizer™) from users” computers and to prescrve the status quo by
requiring DirectRevenue to reinstall Internet Optimizer on all customers’ computers; 2)
declaratory relief that DircetRevenue’s conduet violated the federal Computer Fraud
and Abuse Act (18 U.5.C. 1030 (A)(4) & (5)); and 3) damagces in an amount exceading
$100,00.00).

Heller Ehrman White & McAuliffe LLP

COMPI.ATNT I'OR INJUNCTIVE AND 701 Fifth Averue, Suilo 6100
DECLARATORY RELIEF AND DAMAGES Sallle, Washirgion 98104-7048
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1I. PARTIES

2. Plaintiff Avenue Media, N.V. 1s a Curacao corporation.

3. Defendants DirectRevenue, LLC, DirectRevenue Haoldings, LLC, and
BeitorInternet, LI.C, are Delaware limited liabilily companies with their principal place
of business located at 107 Grand Sireet, 3rd Floor, New York, New York 10013,

III. SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION
4, This action arises undet the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”),
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18 U.8.C. §1030 and state law. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over the
9|l tederal CFAA violations pursuand to 28 11.8.C. §§1331 (federal question} and 1332
10| (diversity). This court also has subject matter junisdiction over the state claims
11 || pursuant lo 28 U.S.C. §§ 1132 (diversity) and 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction).
12| I¥. VENUE
13 5. Venue in this court is proper pursuant to 28 U.5.C, §1391(k) because &
14| substantial part of thc cvents or omissions giving rise to the action oceurred and are
15| ocecurring in this judicial district.
16| V. PERSONAL JURISDICTION
17 6. This court may maintain personal jurisdiction over Defendant
18] DirectRevenue, which distributes and ofters for distribution its products :n this judicial
19] district.
20 VI. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
21 7. Plaintiff Avenue Mcdia has been in the business of providing targeted
22| contextual adverlising on the Internet for more than two years.
23 8. Avenue Media owns and distributes {o computer users software known as
24| Intcrnet Optinuizer that connects uscrs to a seatch ¢ngine known as Yoogee. Users
25| download Intcrnet Optimizer for free, either individually or as part of a tundle of
26| softwarc. The search engine is launchcd when the uscr conducts a scarch through the
27 | URL bar, including initial searches that result in a page that does not exist. Advertisers

28| are given priority in the placement of the search results.

Heller Ehrman White & McAuliffe LLP
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9. Avenue Media eamns revenue when its Internet Optimizer leads uscrs to
search engines which charge a fee. Avenue Media receives 40 to 60% of the fee
charged to the user. It also eamns revenue from advertisers by providing targeted
contextual advertising to users through the Internet Optimizer program. Targeted
contextual advertising delivers advertising to users bascd on the searches they conduct
or the wcbsites they visit. Internet Optimizer is installed on millions of computers, and
historically averaged about iwo million hits per day. Avenue Media camszd revepucs of
$20,000 to $25,000 daily until DircctRevenue surrcptitiously uninstalled the Internet

Optimizer from mullions of users” computers.
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10.  On informalion and belief, DirectRevenue is a competitor who 1s also in
11 the business of targeted Internet advertising. DirectRevenue also offer a free

12| downloadable search engine that prioritizes sponsored links in delivering search results,
13| DirectRcvenue’s sofiware program is known by various names including “thinstall,”
14| “BL" “twaintek,” “direct-revenue,” and “abetterinternct.”

15 11.  On Monday, November 15, 2004, Avenue Media discovered that the

16| number of hits on its Internet Optimizer browset had decreased precipitously, from

17| about two million per day in the previous week, to about one million per day, On

18| further investigation, Avenue Media discovered thatl, upon installation of

19|l DirectRevenue’s compeling browser sofiware, users’ compulers were being instructed
20| to “uninstall” Internet Optimizer. Specifically, when the user downloads

21| DirectRevenue’s browscr software, a command is sent to “Kill process Optimizer.cxe.”
22 || Upon installation, DirectRevenue’s program also sends instructions {or replacing

23| Avecnue Media’s Internet Optimizer’s URL with DirectRevenue’s browser’s URL. The
24 || same command to “kill” Internet Optimizer was directed to long-time users of the

251 browsers when the DircctRevenue’s server conducted a dasly update ol 11s browser.

26 12.  This deletion of Avenue Media’s Internet Optumizer from millions of

27 || users’ computers has caused a loss of revenue to Avenue Media of between $7,000 and

28| $10,000 per day. Avenue Media is also sustaining continuing severe, irrevocable
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damage to its business dircetly causced by Delendant’s unlawful deletion of Avenue
Media’s Intermet Optimizer softwarc from Avenue Media’s customers, Avenuc Media
has no feasible way to contact customers and reinstall the software on their computers,
ot to regain the Jost poodwil) of customers and advertiscrs, without judicial
intervention,

13, On Novcmber 18, 2004, Avenuc Media demanded ihat Defendant cease
the removal of Internet Optimizer from users” computers upon installation or update of
Defendant’s browser. Tt also asked Defendant to reinstall Internet Optimizer on uscrs’
compulers. Defendant has failed to comply.

VII. FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Computer Fraud and Abuse Act

18 U.S.C, §1030 (a)(4)

14, Avenue Media incorporates the allegations and averments of paragraphs
1 through 13 above as fully set forth in this paragraph.

15.  DirectRevenue, knowingly and with intent (o defraud, exceeded 1ts
authorized access Lo users” computers. Tt did so by automatically uninstalling Avenue
Media’s Internet Optimizer upon installation or update of DirectRevenue’s competing
browser.

16.  DirectRevenue uninstalled Avenue Media’s software from users’
computers in furtherance of an intended fraud. In doing so, DirectRevenue intended to
and succeeded in obtaining something of value in cxcess of $5,000 per y=at (as
required by statute). The fees earned from the searches directed by Internet Optimizer
determine Avenuc Media’s revenue stream. DircctRevenue’s conduct in commanding
uninstalls of Avenue Media’s Internet Optimizer from uscrs’ computers directly
reduced by half the revenue stream to Avenue Media. Through its fraudulent activity,
upon information and belief DirectRevenue has obtaincd fees and revenues that would
have otherwise gone 10 Avenue Media, The loss 1s in excess of $7,000 per day,

17.  Defendant’s activitics described above constitute a violation of the

Heller Ehrman White & McAuliffe LLP
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CFAA, 18 U.S.C. §1030(a)(4). Plaintiff Avenue Media may maintain a civil action
against Defendant for violations of the CFAA pursuant to 18 U.8.C. §1030(g). Avenue
Media is entitled to compensatory damages and injunctive and other cquitable relief.

18.  On November 18, Avenue Media demandcd that DirectRevenuc ccase the
offending conduet and reinstall the Intcenct Optimizer softwarc on the users’
computers. DirectRevenuc has failed to comply. As a direct and proximate result of
DireciRevenue’s ongoing violations, Avenue Media has suffered, and will continue to
suffer, substantial injuries, loss and damage to its business and goodwill in an amount
to be proved at trial, but not less than $100,000 per year.

19, If DirectRevenuc is permitted (o continue its conduct, Avenue Media will
be irrcparably harmed. Avenue Media has already lost millions of customers,
thousands of dollars in advertising revenue, and immeasurable customer and adverliser
goodwill as a result of DircctRevenue’s wronglul acts. Avenue Media has no feasible
way of contacting customers to reinstall its wrongfully deleted software. As a result, its
business is being irreparably damaged. Monetary damages alone cannot zompensate
Avenue Media for the harm that DirectRevenuc is causing to Avenue Media, Avenue
Media is entitled to injunctive relicf prohibiting DirectRevenue from continuing in the
violations and requiring Direc(Revenue to rcinstall Internet Optimizer to all of Avenue
Media’s prior customers.

V1il. SECOND CLAIM FOR RELTEF
Violations of Computer Kraud and Abuse Act

18 U.S.C. §1030(2)(3)A)

20.  Avenue Media incorporates the allegations and averments of paragraphs
1 through 19 above as though fully sct forth in this paragraph.

21, DirectRevenue knowingly caused the transmission of a program and, as a
result of such conduct, intentionally caused damage without authorization to uscrs’
protected computers. DirectRevenue desigmed its browser installation process to
automatically uninstall Avenue Media’s Tnternet Optimizer from users’ computers.

Heller Ehrman White & McAuliffs LLP
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DirectRevenuc intentionally damaged users’ computers by deleting Internet Optimizer.

22.  DirectRevenue’s actions described above vielate 18 U.S.C,

§1030(a)(5)(A). Avenue Media may maintain a civil action against DirectRevenuc for
violations of the CEAA pursuant to 18 U.5.C. §1030(g). Avenue Media is centitled to
compensatory damages and injunctive and other equitable relief,

2%, On November 18, 2004, Avenuc Media demanded that DirectRevenue

cease the conduct and reinstall the Tnternet Oplimizer onto tormer users’ computers.
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DeircetRevenue has failed to comply. As a direct and proximate resull of

9| DirectRevenuz’s ongoing violations, Avenue Media has suffered, and will continue to
10| suffer, substantial injurics, loss, and damage to its business and goodwill in an amount
11| to be proved at trial, but not less than $100,000 per year.

12 24.  If DitectRevenue is permitted to continue its conduct without

13| immediately rcinstalling Internet Optimizer on users’ computers, Avepuc Media will be
14 irreparably harmed. Avenue Media has already lost millions of customers and

15| imimeasurable customer and advertiser goodwill as a result of DirectRevenue’s

16{ wrongful acts. Avenue Media has no feasible way of contacting customers to reinstall
17]) its wrongfully uninstalled softwarc. As a result, its business is being irrcparably

18|| damagcd. Monetary damages alone cannol compensate Avenue Mcdia for the harm
19| that DirectRevenue is causing to Avenuc Media. Avenuc Media is entitled to

20|l injunctive relief prohibiting DireciRevenue from continuing in the violations and

21| requiring DirectRevenue to reinstall Intemet Optimizer to all of Avenue Media’s prior
224 customers.

231 1X. THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

24 Taortious Interference With Economig Relations

25 25.  Avenuc Mcdia incorporates the allegations and averments of paragraphs
26] 1 through 24 above as though fully sct forth in this paragraph.
27 26.  DirectRevenuc intentionally interfered with Avenue Media’s business

281 relationships, both existing and contemplated, with computee uscrs, companies

Heller Enrman White & McAuliffe LLP
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operating advance scarch engincs, and advertisers. DircctRevenuc knew of Avenue
Media’s existing ot contemplated relationships, and intentionally interfered with those
rclationships, thus causing termination of Avenue Media’s relationships and
expectancies. DirectRevenue did so in bad faith, for an improper purpose, and using
Improper means, causing serious irreparable damage to Avenue Media.

27.  DirectRevenue, by programming its browser to automatically uninstall

Internet Oplimizer from users’” compulers, showed it had knowledge of Avenuc
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Media’s cxisting relationships with users, advertisers, and companies with advanced

9|l search engines, and intentionally interfered with those relationships. When [nternet
10| Optimizer was deleted [rom users® computers, Avenuc Media’s relationship with those
11| usets, advertisers, and search engine companics was severcd. Through the ensuing loss
12| of customer goodwill, Avenue Media also stands to lose conlemplated business

13| relationships. Rather than competing for Avenuc Media’s customers through

14| legitimate mcans, DirectRevenue did so through improper means, by uninstalling

15| Internct Optimizer from users’ computers.

16 28.  DMrectRevenuc’s actions described above constitule tortious wterference
17| with contraciual relationships and tortious interference with prospective advantlage or
18| business expectancy.

19] X. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

20 29.  WHEREFORE, Plaintiils respectfully pray for the following relief:

21 A.  Entry of imunctive relicf prohibiting DirectRevenue from automatically
22| uninstalling Internet Optimizer upon installation or updating of DirectRevenuc’s

23| competing sofiware, and requiring DirectRevenuc to reinstall Internet Optimizer on all
24 || users’ computers from which it was wrongtully deleted;

25 B. Entry of a declaratory judgment that DirectRevenue’s conduct violated
26| the federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (18 U.S.C. 1030 (A)4) & (5));

27 C.  Anaward to Avenue Media of damages in an amount to be proved at

28] trial, but at least $100,000.00;

Heller Enrman White & McAuliffe LLP
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D. Such other and further relief as may follow from the entry of a
declaratory judgment; and

E. Any further relief that this court may deem just and proper.

November 24, 2004 Respectfully submitted,

ITELLER EHRMAN WHITE & MCCAULIFFE
LLP

Byé_%ﬁl%_“ -

WARREN 1. RFEAUMEY(BAR NO. 13627)

Plaintiff
AVENUE MEDIA, N.V.
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